

Are sit-stand workstations worth the investment?

What the research says about sit-stand workstations, including how to ensure you get the benefits you're paying for

Wellnomics® White Paper

Dr Kevin Taylor (BE, PhD), Nicola Green, MPhil (Hons); BA (Business Psychology); Adv. Cert. Occ. Health Physio; Dip. Physio

www.wellnomics.com ©2015 Wellnomics Ltd





Contents

Introduction	3
How sedentary is office work currently?	4
Interventions to reduce sedentary behavior in the workplace	4
The research on sit-stand workstations	5
Do sit-stand workstations significantly reduce sitting time?	5
Can sit-stand workstations improve employee health?	7
Are there any downsides to using sit-stand workstations?	7
Musculoskeletal discomfort	7
Progression of carotid atherosclerosis	7
Chronic venous disease	8
Do sit-stand workstations affect productivity?	8
What environmental aspects affect the use of sit-stand workstations?	8
Implications for use of sit-stand workstations in the workplace	9
Recommendations for sit-stand workstations	9
Consider the design of the sit-stand workstation carefully	9
Ensure the floor surface and shoes are appropriate	10
Don't replace prolonged sitting with prolonged standing	10
Provide information, training and reminders	10
Limit sitting and standing times and encourage regular postural change	10
Conclusions	
References	11



Introduction

Electric sit-stand workstations are all the rage currently, and they're also much more expensive than standard desks. Are they worth the additional investment? This paper takes a comprehensive look at the published evidence on sit-stand workstations to answer this question.

There is certainly clear evidence that sedentary behavior or "too much sitting" is related to multiple negative health outcomes¹, including metabolic syndrome, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, strokes and heart attacks and even cancer. With vehicle based travel and screen based entertainment in the home modern lifestyles have become increasingly sedentary. Added to this, many modern workers are in office based jobs that are also predominantly sedentary.

The general public has been hearing for years about the health risks associated with physical inactivity and as a result public health guidelines advise us to engage in at least 150 minutes of moderate-intensity activity each week to reduce these health risks.

One of the surprising results from the recent research though, is that the risks associated with sedentary behavior (sitting too much) appear to be *independent* of physical activity. In other words, even if you meet the public health guidelines for and exercise regularly, if you're spending a large proportion of your day sitting you still have an increased health risk. It's not enough to exercise regularly – we also need to spend less time sitting¹.

For workers with office based jobs this means it's no longer enough just to get regular exercise outside work. With the office likely counting for a significant proportion of the day's sitting time there is a need to intervene directly in reducing sedentary time in the workplace itself¹. It's this conclusion that has motivated the following recommendation from an international group of experts assembled by Public Health England²

"...for those occupations which are predominantly desk based, workers should aim to initially progress towards accumulating **2 h/day of standing** and light activity (light walking) during working hours, eventually progressing to a total accumulation of **4 h/day** (prorated to part-time hours). To achieve this, seated-based work should be regularly broken up with standing-based work, the use of sit—stand desks, or the taking of short active standing breaks." ² (emphasis added)

This recommendation has significant implications for employers. How do they ensure office staff achieve up to 4 hours per day of standing and light activity in a job that is normally assumed to be almost 100% sedentary/sitting?

This challenge has resulted in a surge of interest in sit-stand workstations, with the expectation that providing these to office staff will reduce sedentary behavior and thereby mitigate the health risks. But are sit-stand workstations the only option? How effective are they in a real office environment? And do they have any downsides?

To help employers in making decisions we need to answer some key questions:

Exactly how sedentary is office work? How much additional activity is needed?



- What non-sit-stand interventions are there for reducing sedentary behavior in the workplace? How
 effective are they?
- How effective are sit-stand workstations? What do employers need to do to ensure their investment actually delivers the promised health benefits? And are there any negative effects from introducing a new 'standing work' paradigm to the workplace?

These questions are looked at in detail in the following sections with the goal of identifying evidence based recommendations for employers wanting to ensure their investment in sit-stand workstations delivers real results.

How sedentary is office work currently?

If we're to aim for 2-4 hours of standing and light activity per working day² we need to first know the increase this represents over the current situation. It might be assumed that office work is currently 100% sedentary. However, this isn't quite the case.

Looking at six different studies done in the last 3-4 years and using objective measurements of posture in the workplace (using accelerometers) the levels of sedentary behavior have been found to vary from 57%³ of working time (with the rest in light activity), 71%⁴ to 77-82%^{5,6,7,8}. Although there is some variation depending upon job type (call center workers having more sedentary time and customer service workers less sedentary time than average⁸) the most common picture is of around 80% of the time in offices being spent sitting. The conclusion below is representative:

"Office work is characterised by sustained sedentary time and contributes significantly to overall sedentary exposure of office workers." 7

These results suggest an 8 hour working day for office based work typically consists of up to 6.5 hours sitting, meaning 1.5 hours of non-sedentary activity per day. So to achieve the suggested long term goal of 4 hours standing and light activity per working day we need to increase non-sedentary time by approximately 2.5 hours per day – a significant amount.

What are the options for achieving this? Are sit-stand workstations the only, or best, option?

Interventions to reduce sedentary behavior in the workplace

With the existing awareness of the negative effects of physical inactivity there has already been a focus in recent years on increasing healthful activity amongst employees. A variety of interventions have been looked at including providing physical activity and active living advice, pedometers, motivational emails and hints on incidental walking.

Looking at the effectiveness of these a 2009 meta-analysis reviewed interventions such as fitness facilities at the workplace, supervised exercise, motivational sessions and exercise advice⁹. The authors found that



physical activity generally increased and fitness and cholesterol improved with these interventions, though analysis was difficult given the large variations in study design and interventions. Another research group promoted the use of stairs within a workplace. They found that this was as successful strategy to increase stair use, increase fitness, decrease weight, blood pressure and cholesterol. Websites within workplaces have also been found to increase physical activity and improve knowledge and attitudes 11.

These results are encouraging. However, although increasing physical activity at work is clearly beneficial the recent research¹ indicates clearly that we need to reduce sitting time as well. So do these interventions also reduce sedentary behavior?

Unfortunately the results suggest limited success on this count. One 2011 intervention study¹² implemented a 'challenge' in workplaces whereby teams used pedometers to log their steps. Supported by the provision of health information, communication and progress reports the study found sitting time decreased by 0.6 hours per day. However, this result does not appear to be typical. A 2010 systematic review of research on interventions to reduce sitting¹³ found most studies had a focus on increasing activity (with counselling, advice, email messages, pedometers and walking advice) rather than reducing sitting. And none of the studies showed significant differences in sitting times between the intervention group and control groups.

So these more traditional interventions are certainly beneficial from a health perspective, but they don't appear to be successful at reducing sedentary behavior to any significant degree. So are sit-stand workstations the answer?

The research on sit-stand workstations

Sit-stand workstations are increasingly being seen as *the* answer to reducing sedentary behavior in the workplace. But how effective actually are they? What steps are needed to maximize their benefits? And do they introduce new risks? This section looks to the research literature for answers.

Do sit-stand workstations significantly reduce sitting time?

A number of studies have looked at exactly this question, with four recent studies comparing intervention groups provided with sit-stand workstations to controls with normal desks. Pleasingly, significant reductions in sitting time were recorded in all cases, with reductions of 0.6 hours¹⁴ (4.8 minutes per work hour), 1.2 hours (73 minutes)¹⁵, 1.7 hours¹⁶, 2.1 hours (125 minutes)¹⁷ and 2.3 hours (137 minutes)¹⁸ per day.

The conclusions of the authors are clear:

"...the introduction of a sit-stand workstation can substantially reduce office workers' sitting time both at the workplace and overall throughout the week." ¹⁸

"...introducing sit-stand workstations in the office can reduce desk-based workers sitting time at work in the short term." ¹⁵



"...substantial reductions in sitting time are achievable in an office setting. Larger studies with longer timeframes are needed to assess sustainability of these changes..." ¹⁷

Although these results are very promising, the caveats included above are important. These studies were generally done over short periods (typically 4 weeks) and on small groups. Many of these studies also implemented comprehensive training and support to ensure the desks were utilized correctly. For example, the programme for one study¹⁷ included a 45-minute researcher-led consultation with management representatives, a workshop for all intervention participants, regular contact to troubleshoot any difficulties and reinforce active organizational support, emails providing a "standing tip of the week". Participants also received individual verbal instructions on using the sit-stand workstation, 30-minute face-to-face consultations with a master's level health coach, followed by three telephone calls (one per week). The consultations emphasized behavior change strategies (goal-setting, self-monitoring, and use of prompts and problem solving) and included feedback on participants' baseline activity and monitor results, which were used to inform personally tailored goals regarding each of the intervention messages.

Wow! With such extensive support, and likely significant expectation pressure for the intervention participants to change their behavior, its perhaps not surprising that effective results were obtained.

Another study illustrates this issue, comparing the differences between "Ergonomics Trained" sit-stand workstation users given a 1.5 hour interactive instruction, a sit/stand practice period, and software ergonomic reminders and "Minimally Trained" users¹⁹. Their findings reinforce the critical role of training and ongoing support in achieving results:

"Ergonomics Trained participants experienced minimal musculoskeletal and visual discomfort across the 15 days, varied their postures, with significantly higher performance compared to the Minimally Trained group who had a significantly higher number of symptoms, suggesting that training plays a critical role." 19

So what happens in the real world when sit-stand workstations are introduced? It's an open question whether many organizations implementing sit-stand workstations invest in an extensive programme like those described above, particularly if providing them for all staff. The investment would be a substantial additional cost over and above the already significant cost of sit-stand workstations.

Wilks et al²⁰ surveyed staff at four companies using that had introduced sit-stand workstations and found that 60% used the sit-stand function only once per month or less, with only 20% used it at least once per day. The authors of the study concluded:

"Utilisation of the sit-stand function was less than what could be expected to relieve static musculoskeletal loading during VDU work.... Users were, in general, positive to the worktables, but showed poor compliance in using them. User and purchaser satisfaction with regard to improving individual health ergonomics was questionable in respect of the low level of usage." ²⁰

In other words, even though staff were happy with the desks the utilization was so low that any health benefits from introducing sit-stand workstations were unlikely to be realized.



Overall, however, it seems clear that sit-stand workstations can significantly reduce sedentary time. But effective training and ongoing support do appear critical to achieving this effectiveness.

Can sit-stand workstations improve employee health?

The ultimate goal of using a sit-stand workstation is to mitigate the negative health effects of sedentary behavior. To this end the research shows some positive results.

Multiple studies have shown improvements in musculoskeletal discomfort with sit-stand workstations^{21,22,25} and a 2014 literature review²³ covering seven studies found six of the seven showed reductions in discomfort, with the conclusion:

"sit-stand workstations are likely effective in reducing perceived discomfort" 23

Additional benefits measured in the research include less foot swelling when standing for 15 minutes in the hour²⁴, increased overall sense of well-being and energy, reduced appetite and dietary intake¹⁴ decreased fatigue²⁵ and increased energy expenditure²⁶.

After introducing standing work blood glucose levels have also been found to reduce by 11%²⁷ (with the introduction of an alternating 30 minute sit-stand protocol) and 43%²⁶ (after a 3 hours standing period). With increased blood glucose levels being one of the proposed mechanisms behind the negative health effects of sedentary behaviour¹ the measurement of reduced blood glucose after introducing standing is a positive sign that the underlying causes of the long term negative health outcomes of sedentary behavior – such as metabolic syndrome, diabetes, stroke and heart attack – are being addressed.

There is not yet sufficient evidence to say that use of sit-stand workstations can reduce the incidence of these negative health outcomes. However, early results show clear benefits, and these may eventually lead to long term improvements in health outcomes also.

Are there any downsides to using sit-stand workstations?

Sitting is bad for you, but unfortunately so is prolonged standing. One concern with sit-stand workstations is users could replace prolonged sitting with prolonged standing, which has its own health risks.

Musculoskeletal discomfort

Spinal height has been found to be reduced more when working in a standing position compared to sitting²⁸. While this is not necessarily linked to back pain or discomfort other studies have found that back pain is reported with prolonged standing at work^{29,30}, although this issue is worst when the standing is done at work without the freedom to sit³¹, which should not be the case for office workers using a sit-stand workstation.

Lower limb and foot discomfort is also reported with prolonged standing at work more than when sitting^{30,} with this issue appearing to be vascular in origin (related to circulation)^{33,34}.

Progression of carotid atherosclerosis

A significant association between the amount of standing at work and the progression of carotid artery wall thickening has been found³⁵. This study also found that men with carotid artery narrowing or ischemic heart disease were especially vulnerable to the adverse effects associated with standing at work.



Chronic venous disease

Chronic venous disease is a common disorder that affects the veins of the legs[†]. If the valves within the veins do not work properly, blood can pool in the legs increasing the pressure in the veins. Symptoms of chronic venous disease include varicose veins, leg swelling and leg pain. Standing or sitting for too long without walking can decrease blood flow out of the legs and result in increased pressure on the veins. A 2007 study that examined multiple risk factors for the development of chronic venous disease in office workers found that while prolonged sitting and standing are both risk factors, standing was a greater risk than sitting³⁶. Other studies have also found varicose veins associated with prolonged standing at work³⁷, ³⁸. Furthermore, a large, prospective Danish study in 2005³⁹ found that workers standing or walking at least 75% of their working time were significantly more likely to be hospitalized for varicose veins than other employees. The authors concluded,

"This prospective study confirms that prolonged standing at work constitutes an excess risk of hospital treatment due to varicose veins and accounts for more than one fifth of all cases of working age" p.847 ³⁹

They go on to recommend that standing and walking at work should be limited and alternate with other positions such as sitting.

In summary, given prolonged standing has its own risks it's important that prolonged sitting is not simply substituted for long periods standing instead. The benefits of a sit-stand workstation lie in the ability to adjust work positions from sitting to standing and back again regularly.

Do sit-stand workstations affect productivity?

A 2014 review paper looking at this question reviewed eight studies on sit-stand workstations that included productivity measures²³. Three of the studies reported an increase in productivity during sit—stand work, four reported no effect on productivity, and one reported mixed productivity results. The review therefore concluded that based upon the evidence to date:

"...sit-stand workstations do not cause a decrease in productivity." ²³

What environmental aspects affect the use of sit-stand workstations?

The research indicates a number of practical, organizational and personal reasons can affect utilization of the sit-stand workstations in the workplace. One is the design of the sit-stand workstation¹⁶ such as the surface that can be raised being too small, or problems with the adjustability mechanism (for example, not tall enough or unbalanced). Generally desks where the entire work surface is height adjustable is preferred as are electric mechanisms compared to manually operated ones. Another is the perceived productivity in different positions^{16, 40} with some preferring to sit or stand to do specific tasks, for example, sitting to read and standing to type or vice versa.

Use of sit-stand workstations is also influenced by the culture of the work groups with use increasing as more co-workers also stood to work and it became the 'norm' 16,40. In one study 20 the most common reason for not using the sit-stand workstation was that people simply 'did not bother' to use it. This may

[†] http://www.uptodate.com/contents/chronic-venous-disease-beyond-the-basics



be to do with lack of understanding of the benefits of varying positions or how to use the desks, or it may be that people simply did not remember to adjust the desk regularly. Those who received instructions were more frequent users than those who had not received instructions¹⁹ and provision of information may improve commitment and uptake¹⁶.

Also, as mentioned in an earlier section, training in use of sit-stand workstations, practice in moving to standing and working for periods of time, and email reminders, have all been shown to improve musculoskeletal and visual discomfort, posture variation and performance compared to those who received no coaching, no reminders and no mandatory standing practice¹⁹. One study⁴⁶ demonstrated that using prompting software, which reminded participants to take a break from sitting appeared on-screen for one minute every 30 minutes, resulted in less frequent and less prolonged periods of sitting compared to those who received education only.

Overall the provision of sit-stand workstations is well received by workers^{30,16,40}. Even where utilization has been poor²⁰ 78% of participants still considered that the sit-stand workstations had improved their working environment.

Implications for use of sit-stand workstations in the workplace

The research shows sit stand workstations as potentially one of the best solutions for achieving significant reductions in sedentary behavior in the office and improving related health measures without negatively affecting productivity.

However, it appears that that without a significant investment in organizational and individual change management and ongoing support the long term utilization of sit-stand workstations may be considerably lower than that needed to obtain useful health benefits. Although there are ways to maximize user acceptance of and satisfaction with sit-stand workstations, user acceptance does not appear to be the main barrier. The issue is perhaps more one of user motivation and achieving sustainable behavior change.

Staff and management may like having sit-stand workstations, but unless steps are taken to ensure they are properly utilized the investment in sit-stand desks could be wasted from a health perspective.

More research is needed looking at the long term utilization of sit-stand workstations in the workplace and identifying reliable and cost-effective methods for maximizing and maintaining the benefits sit-stand workstations can offer with regard to reducing sedentary/sitting time and introducing regular postural change.

Recommendations for sit-stand workstations

Based upon the research findings to date summarized in this paper the following recommendations can be made for sit-stand workstations and their introduction and use within the workplace.

Consider the design of the sit-stand workstation carefully

The latest European standard recommends sit/stand workstations support an adjustability range between 26 inches (650mm) and 49 inches (1250mm) ⁴¹.

Electric desk height adjustment is preferable to manual adjustment. The lower effort required and greater ease of use means users of electric sit-stand workstations are more likely to adjust the desk often[†].



Preferably, the whole desk surface should be raised and lowered so different tasks are not impeded by the change in working position. In addition, all cables should be able to move easily when the work surface is adjusted.

Ensure the floor surface and shoes are appropriate

A carpeted or other softer surface has found to be better than a harder surface (concrete or lino) in terms of perceived comfort^{42,43}, lower leg swelling⁴⁴ and fatigue³⁷.

Wearing comfortable flat-soled or non-heeled shoes when standing is also important and has been found to decrease the prevalence of varicose veins³⁷.

Don't replace prolonged sitting with prolonged standing

The risks of prolonged standing are well established and it's important that in the move to decrease prolonged sitting these risks are not overlooked. Sit-stand workstations should be used to provide a way for workers to vary their position not to simply stand to work⁴⁵. Additionally, workers should be given time to adapt to the change to a standing working style – with a gradual transition to increased standing time over time^{2, 17.}

Provide information, training and reminders

Users should be provided with up-to-date information about the risks of prolonged sitting and standing and the benefits of varying working positions throughout the day. Training should be provided so that the operation of the sit-stand workstation are well understood and optimal working heights in both standing and sitting positions are clear for each user. Training should include advice on footwear, standing surface and guidelines for optimal times to be spent sitting or standing (see further below).

Software reminders can enhance the uptake and use of the sit-stand workstations and increase posture variation^{19,46}.

Limit sitting and standing times and encourage regular postural change

The guidelines in the literature for the optimal intervals between sitting and standing vary. However, current recommendations, based largely on expert consensus and emanating from musculoskeletal medicine, are that postural change should occur at least every 20 to 30 minutes⁴⁷. Positive health effects have been found with standing for 15 minutes an hour²⁴. In addition, it's been found that musculoskeletal discomfort from standing for 45 minutes was not mitigated by 15 minutes sitting⁴⁸, suggesting 45 minutes is too long a period to stand. Recent expert consensus recommendations are to aim for 2 hours per day of non-sitting time, eventually progressing to 4 hours in an 8 hour working day². With the average office worker only achieving about 1.5 hours currently, this suggests we need to aim for an additional 0.5 to 2.5 hours of standing. To achieve this between 10% and 40% of the current sitting time needs to be converted to standing time.

Given these numbers its recommended that standing should be for at least 10 minutes per hour but less than 45 minutes before a transition to sitting, with at least two transitions between sitting and standing per hour. Over time standing should be increased to at least 20-25 minutes per hour.

Overall this implies at least two postural changes per hour, or 16 postural changes in an 8 hour work day. Considering the relatively high frequency of the postural changes this represents, together with the need to substantially increase standing time but also not stand too long, it's likely that users may find it challenging



to maintain the an ideal sit-stand protocol consistently over time. The use of reminders of some sort may therefore be key to ensuring satisfactory compliance and maximize utilization of sit-stand workstations.

Conclusions

The research appears to strongly support sit-stand workstations as a suitable workplace intervention for achieving the significant reductions in sedentary behavior that experts are asking for. Full size electronically adjustable sit-stand workstations are recommended.

Positives to sit-stand workstations include:

- High user acceptance
- No reduction in productivity
- · Reduced discomfort and higher energy
- Reduced blood glucose levels

Negatives include:

- High cost of purchase
- Potential negative health outcomes from standing too long
- The need for significant training and ongoing support to achieve good utilization

Achieving optimal health benefits from sit-stand workstations means getting users to:

- Change posture at least two times per hour
- Replace up to 50% of their existing sitting time with standing
- Spend no more than 45 minutes standing in one period

The biggest challenge for employers considering sit-stand workstations is the significant behavior change required for users to realize the health benefits and avoid potential negatives. Just providing sit-stand workstations to staff is, by itself, unlikely to be effective. The research suggests that a significant additional investment is required in training and support to ensure workstations are properly utilized, and ensuring this is sustained, with this being key to achieving a good return-on-investment.

Better ways are needed to achieve sustainable and effective use of sit-stand workstations without relying on a large and ongoing investment in training, coaching and support to get users to use their sit-stand workstations.

References

-

¹ Taylor, K., Green, N., (2015) Sitting all day – what's the research behind the risks? A research review of the risks associated with sedentary/sitting behaviour. *Wellnomics White Paper*.



² John P Buckley, Alan Hedge, Thomas Yates, Robert J Copeland, Michael Loosemore, Mark Hamer, Gavin Bradley, David W Dunstan, (2015) The sedentary office: a growing case for change towards better health and productivity. Expert statement commissioned by Public Health England and the Active Working Community Interest Company, Br J Sports Med doi:10.1136/bjsports-2015-094618

- ³ Brown, H. E., Ryde, G. C., Gilson, N. D., Burton, N. W., & Brown, W. J. (2013). Objectively measured sedentary behavior and physical activity in office employees: relationships with presenteeism. *Journal Of Occupational And Environmental Medicine* 55(8), 945-953. doi:10.1097/JOM.0b013e31829178bf
- ⁴ Clemes, S. A., O'Connell, S. E., & Edwardson, C. L. (2014). Office workers' objectively measured sedentary behavior and physical activity during and outside working hours. *Journal Of Occupational And Environmental Medicine*, *56*(3), 298-303. doi:10.1097/jom.000000000000101
- ⁵ Toomingas, A., Forsman, M., Mathiassen, S. E., Heiden, M., & Nilsson, T. (2012). Variation between seated and standing/walking postures among male and female call centre operators. *BMC Public Health*, 12(1).
- ⁶ Mörl, F., & Bradl, I. (2013). Lumbar posture and muscular activity while sitting during office work. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology, 23*(2), 362-368.
- ⁷ Parry, S., & Straker, L. (2013). The contribution of office work to sedentary behaviour associated risk. BMC Public Health, 13(1), 296
- ⁸ Thorp, A., Healy, G., Winkler, E., Clark, B., Gardiner, P., Owen, N., & Dunstan, D. (2012). Prolonged sedentary time and physical activity in workplace and non-work contexts: a cross-sectional study of office, customer service and call centre employees. *IJBNPA*, *9*(1), 128.
- ⁹ Conn, V. S., Hafdahl, A. R., Cooper, P. S., Brown, L. M., & Lusk, S. L. (2009). Meta-Analysis of Workplace Physical Activity Interventions. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 37(4), 330-339. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2009.06.008
- ¹⁰ Meyer, P., Kayser, B., Kossovsky, M. P., Sigaud, P., Carballo, D., Keller, P.-F., ... Mach, F. (2010). Stairs instead of elevators at workplace: cardioprotective effects of a pragmatic intervention. European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation, 17(5), 569-575. doi:10.1097/HJR.0b013e328338a4dd
- ¹¹ Irvine, A. B., Philips, L., Seeley, J., Wyant, S., Duncan, S., & Moore, R. W. (2011). Get moving: a web site that increases physical activity of sedentary employees. American Journal Of Health Promotion: AJHP, 25(3), 199-206. doi:10.4278/ajhp.04121736
- ¹² Freak-Poli, R., Wolfe, R., Backholer, K., de Courten, M., & Peeters, A. (2011). Impact of a pedometer-based workplace health program on cardiovascular and diabetes risk profile. Prev Med, 53, 162 171.
- ¹³ Chau, J. Y., Van Der Ploeg, H. P., van Uffelen, J. G. Z., Wong, J., Riphagen, I., Healy, G. N., ... Brown, W. J. (2010). Are workplace interventions to reduce sitting effective? A systematic review. Preventive Medicine, 51(5), 352-356.
- ¹⁴ Dutta, N., Koepp, G. A., Stovitz, S. D., Levine, J. A., & Pereira, M. A. (2014). Using sit-stand workstations to decrease sedentary time in office workers: A randomized crossover trial. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 11(7), 6653-6665.
- ¹⁵ Chau, J. Y., Daley, M., Dunn, S., Srinivasan, A., Do, A., Bauman, A. E., & van der Ploeg, H. P. (2014a). The effectiveness of sit-stand workstations for changing office workers' sitting time: Results from the Stand@Work randomized controlled trial pilot. International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 11(1).
- ¹⁶ Grunseit, A. C., Chau, J. Y. Y., Van Der Ploeg, H. P., & Bauman, A. (2013). "Thinking on your feet": A qualitative evaluation of sitstand desks in an Australian workplace. BMC Public Health, 13(365).
- ¹⁷ Healy, G. N., Eakin, E. G., LaMontagne, A. D., Owen, N., Winkler, E. A. H., Wiesner, G., ... Dunstan, D. W. (2013). Reducing sitting time in office workers: Short-term efficacy of a multicomponent intervention. Preventive Medicine, 57(1), 43-48.
- ¹⁸ Alkhajah, T. A., Reeves, M. M., Eakin, E. G., Winkler, E. A. H., Owen, N., & Healy, G. N. (2012). Sit-stand workstations: A pilot intervention to reduce office sitting time. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 43(3), 298-303.
- ¹⁹ Robertson, M. M., Ciriello, V. M., & Garabet, A. M. (2013). Office ergonomics training and a sit-stand workstation: Effects on musculoskeletal and visual symptoms and performance of office workers. Applied Ergonomics, 44(1), 73-85
- ²⁰ Wilks, S., Mortimer, M., & Nylén, P. (2006). The introduction of sit-stand worktables; aspects of attitudes, compliance and satisfaction. Applied Ergonomics, 37(3), 359-365.



²¹ Husemann, B., Von MacH, C. Y., Borsotto, D., Zepf, K. I., & Scharnbacher, J. (2009). Comparisons of musculoskeletal complaints and data entry between a sitting and a sit-stand workstation paradigm. Human Factors, 51(3), 310-320.

- ²³ Karakolis, T., & Callaghan, J. P. (2014). The impact of sit-stand office workstations on worker discomfort and productivity: A review. Applied Ergonomics, 45(3), 799-806.
- ²⁴ Paul, R. D. (1995). Foot swelling in VDT operators with sitting and sit-stand workstations Symposium conducted at the meeting of the Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society
- ²⁵ Thorp, A. A., Kingwell, B. A., Owen, N., & Dunstan, D. W. (2014). Breaking up workplace sitting time with intermittent standing bouts improves fatigue and musculoskeletal discomfort in overweight/obese office workers. Occupational And Environmental Medicine, Article in Press.
- ²⁶ Buckley, J.P., Mellor D.D., Morris, M., Joseph, F., (2013). Standing-based office work shows encouraging signs of attenuating post-prandial glycaemic excursion. *Occup Environ Med*, 0:1–3. doi:10.1136/oemed-2013-101823
- ²⁷ Thorp A.A., Kingwell B.A., Sethi P., Hammond L., Owen N., Dunstan D.W. (2014). Alternating bouts of sitting and standing attenuate postprandial glucose responses. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. Nov;46(11):2053-61. doi: 10.1249/MSS.000000000000337.
- ²⁸ Leivseth, G., & Drerup, B. (1997). Spinal Shrinkage during Work in a Sitting Posture Compared to Work in a Standing Posture. Clinical Biomechanics, 12(7-8), 409-418.
- ²⁹ Gregory, D. E., & Callaghan, J. P. (2008). Prolonged Standing as a Precursor for the Development of Low Back Discomfort: An Investigation of Possible Mechanisms. Gait & Posture, 28(1), 86-92.
- ³⁰ Roelofs, A., & Straker, L. (2002). The Experience of Musculoskeletal Discomfort amongst Bank Tellers Who Just Sit, Just Stand or Sit and Stand at Work. Ergonomics SA, 14(2), 11-29.
- ³¹ Tissot, F., Messing, K., & Stock, S. (2009). Studying the Relationship between Low Back Pain and Working Postures among Those Who Stand and Those Who Sit Most of the Working Day. Ergonomics, 52(11), 1402-1418.
- Messing, K., Tissot, F., & Stock, S. R. (2006, 10-14 July 2006). Lower Limb Pain, Standing, Sitting and Walking: The Importance of Freedom to Adjust One's Posture. presented at the meeting of the Meeting Diversity in Ergonomics, The Netherlands.
- ³³ Antle, D. M., & Côté, J. N. (2013). Relationships between lower limb and trunk discomfort and vascular, muscular and kinetic outcomes during stationary standing work. Gait & Posture, 37(4), 615-619.
- ³⁴ Antle, D. M., Vézina, N., Messing, K., & Côté, J. N. (2013). Development of discomfort and vascular and muscular changes during a prolonged standing task. Occupational Ergonomics, 11(1), 21-33.
- 35 Krause, N., Lynch, J. W., Kaplan, G. A., Cohen, R. D., Salonen, R., & Salonen, J. T. (2000). Standing at Work and Progression of Carotid Atherosclerosis. Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health, 26(3), 227-236.
- ³⁶ Sudol-Szopinska, I., Panorska, A. K., Kozinski, P., & Blachowiak, K. (2007). Work-Related Chronic Venous Disease in Office and Bakery Workers. Occupational Ergonomics, 7(2), 125-137.
- ³⁷ Bahk, J. W., Kim, H., Jung-Choi, K., Jung, M.-C., & Lee, I. (2012). Relationship between prolonged standing and symptoms of varicose veins and nocturnal leg cramps among women and men. Ergonomics, 55(2), 133-139.
- Lee, A. J., Evans, C. J., Allan, P. L., Ruckley, C. V., & Fowkes, F. G. (2003). Lifestyle factors and the risk of varicose veins: Edinburgh vein study. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 56(2), 171-179.
- ³⁹ Tuchsen, F., Hannerz, H., Burr, H., & Krause, N. (2005). Prolonged Standing at Work and Hospitalisation Due to Varicose Veins: A 12 Year Prospective Study of the Danish Population. Occupational & Environmental Medicine, 62(12), 847-850.
- ⁴⁰ Chau, J. Y., Daley, M., Srinivasan, A., Dunn, S., Bauman, A. E., & Van Der Ploeg, H. P. (2014b). Desk-based workers' perspectives on using sit-stand workstations: A qualitative analysis of the Stand@Work study. BMC Public Health, 14(1).
- ⁴¹ BS EN 527-1: 2011, https://www.fira.co.uk/technical-services/ergonomics/bs-en-527-1-2011
- ⁴² Madeleine, P., Voigt, M., & Arendt-Nielsen, L. (1998). Subjective, Physiological and Biomechanical Responses to Prolonged Manual Work Performed Standing on Hard and Soft Surfaces. European Journal of Applied Physiology & Occupational Physiology, 77(1-2), 1-9.

²² Pronk, N. P., Katz, A. S., Lowry, M., & Payfer, J. R. (2012). Reducing occupational sitting time and improving worker health: The take-a-stand project, 2011. Preventing Chronic Disease, 9(10).



⁴³ Rys, M., & Konz, S. (1988). Standing Work: Carpet vs. Concrete Symposium conducted at the meeting of the Riding the Wave of Innovation. Proceedings of the Human Factors Society 32nd Annual Meeting, Anaheim, California.

⁴⁴ Suzuki, K., & Matsumoto, S. (2006). Effects of a Soft Floor Mat on the Lower-Leg Circumference and Discomfort in Simulated 8-Hour Standing Work. Journal of Science of Labour, 82(1), 22-32.

⁴⁵ Gilson, N., Straker, L., & Parry, S. (2012). Occupational sitting: practitioner perceptions of health risks, intervention strategies and influences. Health Promotion Journal Of Australia, 23(3), 208-212.

⁴⁶ Evans, R. E., Fawole, H. O., Sheriff, S. A., Dall, P. M., Grant, P. M., & Ryan, C. G. (2012). Point-of-choice prompts to reduce sitting time at work: a randomized trial. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 43(3), 293-297. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2012.05.010

⁴⁷ Dunstan, D. W., Wiesner, G., Eakin, E. G., Neuhaus, M., Owen, N., LaMontagne, A. D., ... Healy, G. N. (2013). Reducing office workers' sitting time: rationale and study design for the Stand Up Victoria cluster randomized trial. BMC Public Health, 13, 1057-1057.

⁴⁸ Gallagher, K. M., Campbell, T., & Callaghan, J. P. (2014). The influence of a seated break on prolonged standing induced low back pain development. Ergonomics, 57(4), 555-562.